



International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services

CONSTITUTION

of the International Network of Health Promoting
Hospitals & Health Services (HPH)

&

MEMORANDUM

of

UNDERSTANDING



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital





International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital





International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services

Constitution of the International HPH Network



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital



International Network of Health Promoting Hospitals and Health Services (HPH)

Constitution

PREAMBLE

The International Network of Health Promoting Hospitals and Health Services was initiated by the World Health Organization to put into action the WHO principles of health promotion, which concern patients, staff, community and the environment of hospitals and health services. The Network has now come to a stage of sustainability enabling it to become a legal entity and a main partner for collaboration with WHO.

Through this Constitution, the International HPH Network states its purpose and objectives, describes the rules for decisions for statutory bodies as well as the relationship with its members and international partners.

Article I NAME, AIMS, HEADQUARTERS

1. Mission

The Health Promoting Hospitals and Health Services of the International Network shall work towards incorporating the concepts, values, strategies and standards or indicators of health promotion into the organizational structure and culture of the hospital/health service. The goal is better health gain by improving the quality of health care, the relationship between hospitals/health services, the community and the environment, and the conditions for and satisfaction of patients, relatives and staff.

The International Network of Health Promoting Hospitals and Health Services, hereafter referred to as the International HPH Network, follows the principles of WHO regarding health promotion as written down in the Ottawa Charter (1986), the Budapest declaration (1991), the Vienna recommendations (1997), the Bangkok Charter (2006) and the Standards for Health Promotion in Hospitals (2004). The International HPH Network will collaborate with international organizations such as European Commission and WHO to support the implementation of health promotion strategies, e.g. Patient Safety (2004) and Prevention and control of non-communicable diseases in the WHO European Region (2006).

2. Purpose

The International HPH Network shall promote and assist the dissemination of the concept of health promotion in hospitals and health services (as defined in the mission above) and support implementation within countries and regions, internationally, through technical support to members and the initiation of new national / regional networks.

3. Objectives

- To provide leadership on matters critical to health promotion in hospitals and health services and engaging in partnership where joint action is needed
- To shape the research agenda and stimulate the generation, translation and dissemination of valuable knowledge
- To set norms and standards and promote and monitor their implementation
- To articulate ethical and evidence-based policy options

- To provide technical support, catalyse change and build sustainable institutional capacity
- To monitor the development of health promotion in hospitals and health services

4. Law of reference

The International HPH Network is constituted under Article 60 ff of the Civil Law Code of Switzerland, which is the basic law of the International HPH Network. A decision to change the law of reference shall require a two-thirds majority of present votes in the General Assembly (Art.V § 6).

5. The International HPH Secretariat

The International HPH Secretariat may be located in any member country as determined by the General Assembly. A decision to move the International HPH Secretariat shall require a two-thirds majority of present votes in the General Assembly (Art.V § 6).

The International HPH Secretariat shall normally be located in a WHO Collaborating Centre. The functions of the Collaborating Centre and the member network(s) of the same country shall be separated.

Article II MEMBERSHIP AND VOTING RIGHTS

1. Corporate members of the International HPH Network

1.1. Eligibility

National / Regional HPH Networks, which support Article I § 1, shall be eligible for corporate membership.

1.2. Membership

The National / Regional HPH Networks constitute the corporate members of the International HPH Network.

1.3. Representation

A National / Regional HPH Network shall represent at least 3 hospitals or health services.

1.4. Mission and Obligations

The tasks of a National / Regional HPH Network are:

- To put the mission, purpose and objectives of WHO health promotion principles as described in Art. I § 1, 2 and 3 above into practise on national / regional level by supporting strategic thinking and planning, implementation of health promotion, development of communication systems and training and education
- To develop a strategy and action plan for implementation
- To designate a Coordinating Institution and assign a Coordinator
- To recruit and approve new member hospitals and health services to the National / Regional HPH Network and notify the International HPH Secretariat
- To collect the membership fee from all their members as defined by the General Assembly and to pay the total amount to the International HPH Secretariat according to the established deadlines
- To periodically deliver a progress report to the Governance Board
- To have the rules and functioning of the National / Regional HPH Network approved by their constituent members.

1.5. Approval

Membership of the International HPH Network shall be subject to the approval of the Governance Board.

An agreement running for 4 years shall be signed by the Coordinating Institution and the International HPH Secretariat.

1.6. Voting Right

National / Regional HPH Networks alone shall have the right to vote in the General Assembly. The coordinator will exercise this right or another person authorised by the National / Regional HPH Network. 1 vote per National / Regional HPH Network.

2. Individual members of the International HPH Network

- 2.1. Hospitals or Health Services, which are members of a National / Regional HPH Network, will become individual members of the International HPH Network by the Letter of Intent signed by the National / Regional HPH Network respecting the mission of this Constitution.
- 2.2. Exceptions are Hospitals and Health Services, in countries where no such network exists. These can become members of the International HPH Network defined as recognised by the International HPH Network as a Health Promoting Hospital or Health Service. They become members by signing the Letter of Intent with the International HPH Secretariat. The Governance Board will subsequently ratify their membership.
- 2.3. Individual members shall be represented at the General Assembly by an assigned National / Regional Coordinator or another authorised person of the designated National / Regional Coordinating Institution.
- 2.4. Individual members and members recognised by the International HPH Network as a Health Promoting Hospital or Health Service will benefit from the support of the International, national / regional HPH Network as described in the Constitution, and they may profit from reduced rates when participating in International HPH Network activities

3. Regulation

The General Assembly may issue a more detailed regulation on membership criteria.

Article III PARTNERSHIP WITH INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

The International HPH Network entrusts its most important activities to WHO Collaborating Centres.

The International HPH Network will collaborate with international organizations such as European Commission and WHO to support the strategies related to health promotion as described in Art. I § 1.

Furthermore, the International HPH Network provides knowledge, tools and technical support to all member states with HPH members in their adoption of the strategy and in strengthening their national public health strategies and health systems towards increased opportunities for health promotion and disease control of non-communicable diseases as well as in ensuring access to achieve equity in health and setting up accountable mechanisms for monitoring the implementation.

Article IV THE STATUTORY BODIES

The statutory bodies of the International HPH Network shall be the General Assembly and the Governance Board.

Article V THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

1. The General Assembly is the Assembly of corporate members of the International HPH Network. It is the supreme statutory body of the International HPH Network.
2. The General Assembly must meet at least once a year and preferably in conjunction with the International HPH Conference.
3. Notice of a meeting with date and place, as determined by the Governance Board, shall be sent to all members at least three months in advance.
4. All corporate members and Task Force leaders of the International HPH Network shall be entitled to be present and speak at meetings of the General Assembly. Corporate members hold voting rights in the General Assembly. The voting right is described in Art. II § 1.6.
5. At its ordinary meetings, the General Assembly shall
 - 5.1. Elect members to the Governance Board according to this Constitution.
 - 5.2. Deal with strategic matters and approve of the strategic plans of the International HPH Network.
 - 5.3. Deal with the annual report of the Governance Board and the International HPH Secretariat.
 - 5.4. Approve the action plan for the coming year.
 - 5.5. Define the fees of individual member hospitals and health services. The current rates are published in an attachment of this Constitution.
 - 5.6. Approve the budget and accept the balance presented by the International HPH Secretariat.
 - 5.7. Terminate a membership according to Art. XIV.
 - 5.8. Approve a reimbursement policy for statutory bodies.
 - 5.9. Issue regulations, rules for procedure and membership criteria.
 - 5.10. Amend this Constitution with a two-thirds majority of the present votes according to Art. XVI and Art.V § 6.
 - 5.11. Decide the location of the Congress Secretariat and the International Secretariat upon the recommendations made by the Governance Board according to Art. I § 5 and Art. 6 § 10.
6. The quorum for a meeting of the General Assembly shall be constituted if more than half of all corporate members are present. The decisions of the General Assembly shall be taken by a simple majority of votes, except in so far as a change in law of reference or in location of the International HPH Secretariat (Art. I § 4, 5), the amendment of the Constitution (§ 5.10 above and Art. XVI) or the dissolution of the International HPH Network (Art. XVII) are concerned, which require a two thirds majority of present votes.
7. Members of the General Assembly can have motions submitted to the agenda. All motions should be send to the International HPH Secretariat 8 weeks in advance of the meeting, and the agenda of the General Assembly must be sent to all members six weeks before the meeting. No motion shall be submitted to the vote of the General Assembly unless it has been considered previously by the Governance Board, who shall report thereon to the General Assembly. However, new business that demands a voting decision and can be decided by a simple majority may be considered by the General Assembly upon approval by a two-thirds majority of the present votes (§ 6 above).
8. An extraordinary meeting of the General Assembly may be either called by the Governance Board or upon request of at least one-fifth of corporate members (Art. II §1.2).

Article VI GOVERNANCE BOARD

1. The Governance Board shall prepare and execute the decisions of the General Assembly and it shall run its business in the periods between the meetings of the General Assembly. It shall deal with all matters specified in this Constitution, which are not within the statutory powers of the General Assembly.
2. The Governance Board is composed of 7 members elected by the General Assembly and two permanent seats for WHO Collaborating Centres performing functions as described in Article VIII and IX. Members have voting rights, except where possible conflicts of interest of the members are identified.
 - 2.1. The Governance Board could include observers representing international organizations outside the International HPH Network, which have special agreements with the International HPH Network such as European Commission and WHO (Art. III)
3. The members of the Governance Board shall serve 2 years. They may be re-elected once.
4. After the election the Governance Board constitutes itself, elects a chair and a vice-chair.
5. The Governance Board meets at least twice a year.
6. Only persons representing National / Regional HPH Networks shall be eligible (Article II § 2.3).
7. The quorum for a meeting of the Governance Board shall be three members including the Chair. Its decisions shall be taken by a simple majority.
8. The Governance Board shall recommend to the General Assembly the location of the Congress Secretariat (normally located in a WHO Collaborating Centre.)
9. The Governance Board shall recommend to the General Assembly the location of the International HPH Secretariat (normally located in a WHO Collaborating Centre).
10. The Governance Board shall approve the Terms of References related to the functions of the International HPH Secretariat and the Congress Secretariat (Article VIII and IX). These Terms will be agreed with the competent organisations and normally be of a period of four years.

Article VII VOTING BY CORRESPONDENCE AND EMPOWERMENT OF VOTING

1. When a decision is required on a matter, which cannot be delayed until the next meeting of the Governance Board, as the case may be, the Chief Executive Officer of the International HPH Secretariat may be authorised by the chair of the Governance Board to ascertain by correspondence the opinions of the members concerned and take any action deemed necessary in accordance with the majority opinion.
2. The General Assembly shall not vote by correspondence.

A representational voting by one member for another in the General Assembly as well as in the Governance Board shall be excluded.

Article VIII INTERNATIONAL HPH SECRETARIAT

1. The International HPH Secretariat will work to meet the Terms of References including:
 - 1.1. Administration
 - 1.2. Developing Communication Strategy
 - 1.3. Facilitate internal and external communication
 - 1.4. Provide technical comments and respond to enquiries

1.5. Advocate HPH

2. The International HPH Secretariat shall prepare and carry out the objectives of the International HPH Network as described in Article I § 3. It shall be in charge of the membership administration. It shall monitor payment of membership fees, develop budget and financial reports. It shall prepare the meetings of the General Assembly and Governance Board and shall keep the records as well as the accounts. It shall continuously develop the communication strategy and support its implementation by an interactive homepage for connecting members and exchanging experience and knowledge.
3. The International HPH Secretariat should normally be located in a WHO Collaborating Centre. The functions of the International HPH Secretariat should be used to the benefit for all members.
4. The Director of the WHO Collaborating Centre shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the International HPH Secretariat. In this capacity, he/she shall be accountable to the General Assembly and the Governance Board.

Article IX CONGRESS SECRETARIAT

1. The annual International HPH Conference shall normally be organised by the Congress Secretariat in cooperation with the hosting National / Regional HPH Network. They shall agree on a common budget subject to the approval of the Governance Board.
2. The Congress Secretariat shall offer its services to the National / Regional HPH network hosting the Conference. It shall moderate a Scientific Committee of volunteers recruited from the National / Regional HPH Networks and/or, the individual members, representatives of co-organisers and external scientific experts. The Scientific Committee shall advise as to topics, speakers and papers presented.
3. The Congress Secretariat shall normally be located in a WHO Collaborating Centre. The functions of the Congress Secretariat should be used to the benefit for all members.
4. The Congress Secretariat shall be accountable to the Governance Board.
5. The HPH Conference shall be primarily financed by participants' fees.

Article X TASK FORCES

Task Forces are recommended by the Governance Board and approved by the General Assembly. They are issue-specific teams with specific expertise within the framework of the general aims of the International HPH Network. Task Forces work according to Terms of References and related action plans. They constitute a reference for technical, organisational and scientific support for specific issues of health promotion.

1. The topic of a Task Force is normally in accordance with HPH principles and values.
2. The Task Force members shall propose a Task Force Leader to the General Assembly, which will have the authority of approval. Task Force members should be members of the International HPH Network.
3. Task Forces are constituted by the General Assembly for a period of 4 years. Prolongation is possible.
4. The Task Force Leader reports to the Governance Board and delivers progress reports periodically.
5. Task Forces may meet during the International HPH Conference and Task Force Leaders shall be invited by the International HPH Secretariat to attend the General Assembly.

6. Task Forces are primarily self-financed, but can ask the Governance Board for financial support presenting specified needs. The Governance Board will make recommendations and the General Assembly will have the authority of approval.

Article XI WORKING GROUPS

Working Groups are set up by the Governance Board or the General Assembly. Usually Working Groups are organized as a project with a defined period of time and clear deliverables contributing towards the achievement of the overall International HPH Network's objectives (Art. I § 3).

1. The topic of a Working Group is in accordance with HPH principles and values.
2. The members of the Working Group are members of the International HPH Network and representatives of various institutions like hospitals, university centres, public health institutions, and associations of volunteers.
3. By approval of the General Assembly a Working Group may continue, terminate or develop into a Task Force.
4. Working Groups report to the Governance Board and deliver progress reports periodically.
5. Working Groups are primarily self-financed, but can ask the Governance Board for financial support presenting specified needs. The Governance Board will make recommendations and the General Assembly will have the authority of approval.

Article XII FINANCE

1. The Governance Board shall annually have the financial statements of the International HPH Network audited by a recognised firm of chartered accountants. The audit shall be submitted to the ordinary meeting of the General Assembly (Art. V § 5.6, Art. VIII § 2). The fiscal year of the International HPH Network shall be the period from the 1 January to the 31 December.
2. Sources of incomes may be membership fees and others.

Article XIII WITHDRAWAL FROM CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP

1. A National / Regional HPH Network, not in arrears with its fees, may withdraw its membership from the International HPH Network by written notice to the Governance Board no later than 31 December and twelve months in advance of withdrawal.

Any National / Regional HPH Network so withdrawing its membership shall receive formal acknowledgement from Governance Board. The National / Regional HPH Network shall relinquish all rights and responsibilities of membership at the end of the twelve-month period following notice of withdrawal.

Article XIV SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF CORPORATE MEMBERSHIP

The corporate members will, in case of missing payments, get 2 warnings – 1 per calendar year. The 2nd warning is followed by exclusion from voting in the General Assembly. If non-payment continues the member will be excluded from the International HPH Network at termination of agreement.

1. In extraordinary circumstances a corporate member will be suspended if it is unable to fulfil its core obligations (Art. II § 1.4).

2. The Governance Board shall study the specific case to decide the length of time and if such a Network is to be considered a suspended member.
3. The termination of any National / Regional HPH Network may be recommended by the Governance Board to the General Assembly if demonstrably violating the criteria for membership (Article II §1).

Article XV REINSTATEMENT AND/OR READMISSION PROCEDURES

1. Reinstatement following suspension

- 1.1. The reinstatement process shall be preceded by fulfilment of membership obligations, including the payment of fee for the period of suspension.
- 1.2. In case of suspension for more than 4 years, the corporate member shall be reinstated without payment of back fees provided it meets the criteria for membership and has paid one year's fees in advance.
- 1.3. The General Assembly shall be informed of corporate member thus reinstated to membership.

2. Readmission following withdrawal or termination

- 2.1. Following the withdrawal or termination the readmission process is the same as for admission (Art. II § 1) and the considerations set out below.
- 2.2. A National / Regional HPH Network, which has withdrawn on its own initiative from membership and is not in arrears with its fees (Art. VIII), may apply for readmission providing that it meets the criteria for membership and has not been replaced by another National / Regional HPH Network from that country.
- 2.3. Where termination was related to non-payment of fees, readmission is dependent upon payment of one year's fees in advance.

Article XVI AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

Any proposal to alter this Constitution must be submitted in writing to the Governance Board at least six months before the next meeting of the General Assembly and such proposal shall only become effective after approval by a two-thirds majority of the votes present in the General Assembly (Art. V § 6).

Article XVII DISSOLUTION OF THE INTERNATIONAL HPH NETWORK

1. The dissolution of the International HPH Network shall not come into effect except as a result of 9 months notice by the Governance Board and by a two-thirds majority of the votes present (Art. V § 6).
2. In case of the International HPH Network being dissolved, the liquidation shall be carried out by the Governance Board, which shall determine the disposal of the assets of the International HPH Network and the proceeds of the liquidation in a manner consistent with the law under which the International HPH Network is constituted and as far as possible for the benefit of the international activities of the corporate and individual members.

Article XVIII COMING INTO EFFECT

The General Assembly of the International HPH Network put this Constitution into effect by a vote of a three quarters majority at the meeting of the General Assembly on 14 May 2008.

TRANSITIONAL RULE:

National / Regional HPH Networks that existed before this Constitution came into effect shall present a written policy and an implementation program on how to achieve the mission and obligations of Article II § 1.4 above. The Governance Board shall inform the National / Regional HPH Networks about the procedure.



International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services

Amendments to the Constitution of the International HPH Network



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital





International Network of Health Promoting Hospitals and Health Services (HPH)

Amendments to the Constitution of the International HPH Network

PREAMBLE

A work group was established at the General Assembly 2014 in Barcelona to look into possible amendments and a solution to the potential shortage of eligible candidates for the General Board. The following two amendments were approved by the General Assembly in Oslo, June 10 2015.

CLARIFICATION

The General Assembly decided to clarify the meaning of the word “*member*” in Article VI, 2, to deal with a situation where members of the Governance Board resign during incumbency. From henceforth the meaning of the word “*members*” is interpreted as “*corporate members*”. This means that membership of the Governance Board is based on National/Regional Networks, who identify their own representatives. This is not to be understood as an amendment but as a mere clarification of the intended.

The following two amendments were subsequently approved by the General Assembly in Oslo, June 10, 2015.

AMENDMENTS

1. Amendment to Article VI, 3

The members of the Governance Board shall serve 2 years. They may be re-elected once and again elected and re-elected after an interim period of 2 years

Original phrasing

The members of the Governance Board shall serve 2 years. They may be re-elected once.

2. Amendment to Article VI, 6

Representation must rotate between the corporate members who are willing to be represented in the Governance Board.

Original phrasing

Only persons representing National/Regional HPH Networks shall be eligible (Article II § 2.3)

As the amendments to Article VI, 3 and Article VI, 6 were approved by the General Assembly, it is herein included that the election and re-election, after an interim period, will have to respect the rotation principle.



International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services

Affiliated Members



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital



International Network of Health Promoting Hospitals and Health Services (HPH)

Affiliated Members

PREAMBLE

The global growth and development of HPH has increased the interest in collaboration, affiliation and support from external entities. In 2009, the HPH General Assembly therefore decided to establish an Affiliated HPH Membership category, in accordance with the HPH Constitution Article II §3, for entities that support HPH but are not eligible for normal hospital or health service membership.

AFFILIATED MEMBERS

The affiliation is to

- The International HPH Network in combination with a National/Regional HPH Network, if applicable
- The International HPH Network, exclusively, in countries without National/Regional HPH Networks

Eligibility

Entities working with health promotion aimed at patients, staff, community and the environment, but not eligible for a normal hospital/health service membership, can become affiliated members of the International HPH Network if they sign a Letter of Intent for affiliated members respecting the mission of the HPH Constitution.

- In countries with National/Regional HPH Networks the letter is signed with the National or Regional Coordinator
- In countries without National/Regional HPH Networks the letter is signed with the International HPH Secretariat

Affiliated Members shall

- Support the common HPH goal of a better health gain by improving the quality of care, the relationship between hospitals/health services, the community and the environment and the conditions for and satisfaction of patients, relatives and staff
- Support the work towards fulfilment of the mission, purpose and objectives of the International HPH Network, as defined in the HPH Constitution
- Be subject to the approval of the Governance Board, after which membership will run for an initial period of 4 years
- Pay the international membership fee regulated by the General Assembly

Further regulations

Affiliated Members have no seat and are not represented by the National/Regional Coordinator in the HPH General Assembly.

Withdrawal of membership, suspension and termination follows the regulations of memberships described in the constitution - except that the second warning for pending payment is followed directly by exclusion from International, National and Regional HPH Networks.

Code of Ethics

The International HPH Network promotes high standards for professional ethics and practices. Accordingly, Affiliated Members should act in a manner that promotes integrity and is consistent with accepted ethical and legal principles.

First and foremost, this means that Affiliated Members should comply with applicable laws, regulations, policies, and ethical principles governing professional practice and related activities and oppose behaviour that violates accepted ethical or legal principles. They should also at all times provide accurate, complete and truthful information as well as ensure fairness and avoidance of commercial product endorsement or advertisement.

Further, affiliated members should at all times support the mission, objectives, policies and legal principles of both WHO and HPH.

Finally, upon applying for membership, affiliate members should disclose accurately all information about potential conflicts of interest, including compensation, stock ownership, intellectual property considerations or other direct or indirect financial benefits related to potential membership and / or collaboration to ensure full transparency.



International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital





International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services

WHO/HPH Memorandum of Understanding 2014-2020



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital



Memorandum of Understanding for Collaboration between the World Health Organization, through its Regional Office for Europe and the International Network of Health Promoting Hospitals and Health Services, 2014 - 2020

Further to the Memorandum of Understanding signed on December 10, 2010, this Memorandum of Understanding (hereinafter referred to as “MoU”) sustain the framework for collaboration between the World Health Organization, through its Regional Office for Europe (hereinafter referred to as “WHO Europe”) and the International Network of Health Promoting Hospitals & Health Services (hereinafter referred to as “HPH Network”) to develop and implement joint activities to support the implementation of WHO policies in the European Region as well as in other regions for the period from 2014 to 2020

1. Background

1.1 The mission of the HPH Network is better health gain according to the principles of WHO. The HPH Network members work towards incorporating the concepts, values, strategies and standards or indicators of health promotion into the organizational structure and culture of the hospital/health service. The HPH Network aims to promote and assist the dissemination of the concept of health promotion in hospitals & health services and support implementation within countries and regions, internationally, through technical support to its members and the initiation of new national / regional networks.

1.2 The activities in the HPH Network are based on WHO documents on health promotion in hospitals & health services: *the Ottawa Charter (1986)*, *the Budapest Declaration (1991)*, *the Vienna Recommendations (1997)*, *the Bangkok Charter (2006)* and *the Standards for Health Promotion in Hospitals (2004)*, *the Tallin Charter: Health Systems for Health and Wealth (2008)*, *Health2020: A European policy framework supporting action across government and society for health and well-being (2012)*, *the European Action Plan on Strengthening Public Health Services and Capacities (2012)*, and *the Action Plan for implementation of the European Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases 2012-2016 (2011)*. The HPH Network has adopted the six WHO Core Functions regarding health promotion described in *Eleventh General Programme of Work, 2006-2015: Engaging for Health – A Global Health Agenda*.

1.3 Since 2005 the Secretariat of HPH is hosted by the WHO Collaborating Centre for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services, Bispebjerg Hospital, Copenhagen. This MoU describes the collaboration between WHO Europe and the HPH Network for the next six years.

2. Areas of collaboration

WHO Europe and the HPH Network aim to achieve the following goals:

1. The WHO policies and strategies will be known by the HPH Network members.
2. The WHO policies and strategies will be discussed among the HPH Network members.
3. The HPH Constitution, Strategy and Action Plan will reflect the WHO policies and strategies.
4. The outcomes, tools and materials as described in the HPH Network Strategy and Action Plan will be in accordance with WHO policies and strategies.
5. WHO Europe will inform as appropriate the HPH Network on relevant issues regarding WHO health policies and strategies. Likewise the HPH Network will inform WHO Europe on relevant issues regarding HPH Network policies and strategies.
6. The HPH Network, upon request, as appropriate and feasible will provide technical input, advice and collaboration on specific projects and outcomes mentioned in the WHO strategies and action plans.
7. WHO Europe as appropriate and feasible will provide technical input, advice and collaboration on specific projects and outcomes mentioned in the HPH Network Strategy and Action Plan.

3. Resources





All collaboration activities will be limited to the availability of necessary human and financial resources.

4. Review of Collaboration

4.1 The collaboration will be reviewed by the parties in connection with meetings, annually or as appropriate.

4.2 This MoU will be evaluated every third year.

5. Events and activities

Information on events and activities that may be of common interest will be shared between the two parties.

6. Term of the MoU

6.1 The MoU enters into force upon signature by both parties for a period of six years from that date. The parties may wish to extend the MoU for another 6 years period by mutual agreement.

6.2 WHO Europe or the HPH Network may, at any given time terminate the collaboration established in this MoU. Should a party wish to terminate the collaboration, a 3-months notice in writing shall be given.

6.3 WHO Europe can, at any time, withdraw its technical contribution to specific projects.

7. WHO emblem and name

The WHO emblem and name may not be used, unless there is prior written approval by WHO Europe, on a case-by-case basis.

8. Disputes

Any dispute relating to the interpretation or application of the Agreement shall, unless amicably settled, be subject to conciliation. In the event of failure of the latter, the dispute shall be settled by arbitration. The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the modalities to be agreed upon by the parties or, in the absence of agreement, in accordance with the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules. The parties shall accept the arbitral awards as final.

For WHO:

Regional Director of WHO Regional Office for Europe

For HPH:

Chair of the Governance Board

CEO of the International HPH Secretariat

Copenhagen, 3 July 2014



International Network of
HHealth
PPromoting
HHospitals & Health Services



For further information, please visit

www.whocc.dk

To become an HPH member, please visit

www.hphnet.org



WHO Collaborating Centre
for Evidence-Based Health Promotion in Hospitals & Health Services
Bispebjerg University Hospital

